FILE COPY

DEC - 4 2019

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINA

Robert P. Martin and Melanie A. Martin, Defendants Below,

Petitioners,

۷.

Appeal No: 19-0745 Circuit Court of Pocahontas Co. (18-C-9)

Donald W. Lovelace and Ardel A. Lovelace, Plaintiffs Below,

Respondents.

**PETITIONERS' BRIEF** 

Robert P. Martin, WVSB #4516 2276 Huntersville Drive Marlinton, WV 24954 304.799.7276 Bob@bobmatinlaw.com

## MARTIN, ET AL. V. LOVELACE, ET AL.

## NO.: 19-0745

#### I

####

#### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- D. THE TRIAL COURT ERRRED BY FAILING TO GRANT DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHEN THERE EXISTED NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT THAT THE PLAINTIFFS COULD NOT MEET THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF ADVERSE POSSESSION AS A MATTER OF LAW.
- E. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO PROPERLY CONSIDER AND RULING INADMISSABLE CERTAIN EXHIBITS
- F. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY RULING THAT IT HAD NO DISCRETION WITH REGARD TO THE ASSESSMENT AND TAXATION OF COSTS UNDER RULE 54(d) OF THE WEST VIRGINIA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE DESPITE SPECIFICALLY FIDING THAT PETITIONERS COMMITTED NO WRONGDOING OR SANCTIONABLE CONDUCT BY DEFENDING A SUIT BROUGHT AGAINST THEM SEEKING TO TAKE OWNERSHIP OF PROPERTY LEGALLY OWNED BY THE PETITIONERS THROUGH A CLAIM OF ADVERSE POSSESSION

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND STATEMENT OF THE FACTS OF THE CASE

The underlying action was filed in the Circuit Court of Pocahontas County on March 7, 2018. The verified Complaint filed by the Plaintiffs sought to take by adverse possession a tract of 3/4 of an acre from the legal title owners thereof. The Plaintiffs' verified Complaint stated therein that the "Plaintiffs have 27 Affidavits attesting to the fact that Plaintiffs have met the requirements for adverse possession," and Plaintiffs also attached to their verified Complaint Exhibit A which is an aerial photograph that "included" "the claimed property by the Defendants east of Cummins Creek and fenced by the Plaintiffs as indicated in Exhibit A." (Appendix, p. 4 and p. 6). Exhibit A not only has a heavy black line running along the undisputed boundary fence of the parties drawn thereon by the Plaintiffs and it runs through "the claimed property" along the concourse of Cummins Creek to State Route 39 which is and has been the line contended by Defendants. Further, the Plaintiffs caused to be typed on Exhibit A language identifying the ownership of each side of the heavy black line which was likewise in accord with the record ownership of the Defendants. (Appendix, p. 6). Furthermore, the 27 affidavits adopted by the Plaintiffs in their verified Complaint contained a rudimentary description which was based upon at least 3 meetings held on the property with Plaintiff Donald W. Lovelace, his attorney and the 27 affiants. These were form affidavits provided by Plaintiffs' counsel and drafted by him and sworn, under oath, by all 27 affiants. The description set forth in the 27 affidavits however establishes a completely different "eastern boundary" line than Exhibit A. (Appendix, pp. 139-165).

At the deposition of Donald W. Lovelace on July 9, 2018, Plaintiff, under oath, testified that the description in the affidavits was incorrect and that Exhibit A was incorrect. (Appendix, p. 57). At deposition Donald W. Lovelace drew a third line on Exhibit A that he then testified was the correct boundary line. (Appendix, pp. 166-167). Thereafter, within the next 20 days Donald

6

IV

W. Lovelace and his counsel again met with 19 of the 27 affiants, walked the property, reviewed maps and heard "the story" from Plaintiffs' counsel and signed new affidavits wherein all 19 affiants claim that when they singed their original affidavits they did not understand the rudimentary description contained in their first affidavit and all 19 affiants claimed therein that they needed their recollection refreshed despite the fact that they were at the property when they signed their original affidavit and swore to it. (Appendix, pp. 168-206). Finally, each of the 19 affiants claim a new line on an aerial photograph to be the correct boundary line between the parties. (Appendix, p. 170). This was the fourth line advocated by Plaintiffs within the first 6 months of this litigation.

On October 26, 2018, Plaintiffs filed a Motion to Amend Complaint the essence of which was an attempt to replace the original Exhibit A to Plaintiffs' Complaint with the Exhibit A from the 19 "refreshed" affidavits. (Appendix, pp. 23-28). Thereafter, Plaintiffs filed an unverified Amended Complaint (Appendix, pp. 31-36). Plaintiffs also filed a Second Amended Complaint that was identical to Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint save for the addition of a sworn verification of Plaintiffs. (Appendix, pp. 37-44). Both the Amended Complaint and the Second Amended Complaint specifically refer to the <u>original</u> 27 affidavits which were rejected by Donald W. Lovelace in his deposition and are in conflict with the "new" Exhibit A marked at "Exhibit A-1" attached to Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint and Second Amended Complaint. (Appendix, pp. 34 and 40).

After the close of discovery and on or about February 12, 2019, Defendants filed a properly supported Motion for Summary Judgment containing "pleadings, depositions, answer to interrogatories, and admissions on file" showing "that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that [Defendants] [were] entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." (Appendix, pp. 45-215). Rule 56(d), W.V.R.C.P. In response, the Plaintiffs filed a verified response which contained nothing but allegations, references to deeds, plaintiffs' theory of the case and certain legal authority. Such response failed to raise a genuine issue as to the Plaintiffs' inability to

establish the elements of adverse possession. (Appendix, pp. 217-271). Plaintiffs' response was merely a regurgitation of their arguments in their case and "cherry picked" facts. Plaintiffs' continually reference therein the "water gap" which is Plaintiffs' counsel's euphemism for the 1.25 out conveyance from the 66 acres. Specifically, Plaintiffs state disingenuously that, "there was no exception, made in said deed of trust for any 'water gap." However, in point of fact, the deeds of trust signed, sworn and recorded by Plaintiffs clearly except therefrom the 1.25-acre tract. (Appendix, p. 95 and p. 103). This alleged "water gap" constituted almost the entire basis of Plaintiffs' defense to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. Simply speaking, there is no recognized legal document titled a "water gap." Incredulously, Plaintiffs that, "[S]aid notice in the deeds of trust is in error and basically did nothing to put the Lovelaces on notice of such a claim." (Appendix, p. 231). They were the ones giving notice that the 66-acre tract did not include the 1.25 acre disputed tract.

Unfortunately, Judge Henning, after holding a hearing on Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, entered no Order thereon but simply directed the Clerk to email counsel that such was denied. (Appendix, p. 272). This is a serious problem and issue created by Judge Henning as "a court speaks only through its orders." <u>State ex rel. Kaufman v. Zakaib</u>, 207 W.Va. 662, 535 S.E.2d 727 (2000).

Also, prior to trial, the Court ordered that counsel could not use aerial photographs of the property in dispute maintained by the Assessor that clearly demonstrated that Defendants and their predecessors in title paid the ad valorem real estate taxes on the property in dispute. The Court also ordered that counsel could not use the Exhibit A attached to Plaintiffs' Complaint without redacting the language typed thereon as to what each of the parties owned that was created and verified by Plaintiffs. No written order was ever entered by the trial court.

Finally, although finding that the Defendants committed no wrong of any kind the Court assessed court costs against Defendants. The <u>only</u> rationale of the Court for such assessment

was the Court's belief that he had no discretion and that Rule 54(d) W.V.R.C.P. mandated that he do so. Such order constitutes an unwarranted sanction against innocent litigants.

#### ۷

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioners assert three (3) separate grounds for appeal and argue same as follows:

The Plaintiffs failed to establish at the summary judgment stage of this case that there was a genuine issue of material fact that they could meet and establish all of the elements of adverse possession. Petitioners contend that at summary judgment the Plaintiffs failed to present "pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file" or by "affidavits" to defeat Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. By all of the evidence at summary judgment the Plaintiffs could not establish by objective evidence that they met or even could meet the essential elements of adverse possession of "claim of title" or "color of title" as well as "hostile" or "adverse."

The Defendants were entitled at trial to introduce into evidence Exhibit A to Plaintiffs' Complaint without redaction as it was permissible under the West Virginia Rules of Evidence as a prior sworn statement of Plaintiffs. Also, the Defendants were entitled to introduce at trial the Assessor's aerial tax map photographs of the disputed property to demonstrate that Plaintiffs paid ad valorem real estate taxes on such property.

Finally, Defendants should not have been assessed and taxed court costs as they were innocent litigants that committed no wrongful act and inflicted no injury and were simply defending the legal ownership of their property.

#### VI

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioners request oral argument as Petitioners believe that the Court's decisional process would be significantly aided by oral argument.

This case is suitable for oral argument pursuant to Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rues of Appellant Procedure as it is a case involving assignments of error in the application of settled law, as well as an issue of the trial court not exercising its discretion when the law permits the trial court discretion. Also, Petitioners believe this case is appropriate for a memorandum decision.

#### VII

## ARGUMENT

## A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

As to Petitioners' Assignment of Error based upon the failure of the trial court to grant Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, the standard of review by This Court is de novo. <u>Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc.</u>, 194 W.Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995); <u>Painter v. Peavy</u>, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994).

As to Petitioners' Assignment of Error based upon the failure of the trial court to admit Defendants' otherwise admissible exhibits, the standard of review by This Court is an abuse of discretion. <u>Shafer v. Kings Tire Service, Inc.</u>, 215 W.Va. 169, 597 S.E.2d 302 (2004).

As to Petitioners' Assignment of Error based upon the trial court's assessment and taxation of costs against Defendants', normally the standard of review would be an abuse of discretion, however, due to the trial court's belief that it had no discretion and none was exercised by the trial court, the standard of review of This Court is de novo particularly given the trial court's request for guidance from This Court on this issue.

#### **B. POINTS OF FACT AND LAW PRESENTED**

#### Α.

# THE TRIAL COURT ERRRED BY FAILING TO GRANT DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHEN THERE EXISTED NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT THAT THE PLAINTIFFS COULD NOT MEET THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF ADVERSE POSSESSION AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The focus hereof is on the essential element of "claim of title" and "color of title." It revolves around the specific nature of the basic claim of the Plaintiffs and is factually driven. The second area of this assignment deals tangentially with the Plaintiffs' "claim of title" and "color of title" but specifically involves the actual boundaries of the claimed property and is heavily weighted on the facts. At the outset it is necessary to review the record title history of the Plaintiffs' property. It is important to note that H.V. Pierson and Mable G. Pierson at a time in the past prior to the purchase of the respective tracts of land by the Defendants and the Plaintiffs owned both tracts. Obviously, they later became two contiguous tracts of land.

However, by deed dated August 10, 1965 and of record in the Office of the Clerk of the County Commission of Pocahontas County in Deed Book 113 at page 385, H.V. Pierson and Mable G Pierson sold a tract of sixty-six (66) acres to Lloyd William Waugh and Flossie G. Waugh. (Appendix, pp. 76-77). What would be Plaintiffs claimed 66 acres. The deed contained a metes and bounds description of the sixty-six (66) acres and it is noteworthy that such description is the same metes and bounds description as contained in Plaintiffs' deed and described as containing sixty-six (66) acres. (Appendix, pp. 76-77 and pp. 85-87). This deed from the Piersons to the Waughs also contained a reservation in favor of the Piersons as follows:

"The said parties of the first part reserve and except from this conveyance the right to have a water gap leading from the lands now owned by the parties of the first part and running through the land heretofore conveyed, and said water gap is to be located at a spot to be agreed upon between the parties." (Appendix, p. 76)

Such reservation shall be of significant note later herein.

Thereafter, on or about February 19, 1969 the Waughs conveyed by deed of record in the aforesaid Clerk's Office in Deed Book 119 at page 204, two (2) tracts of land "tract no. 2" being the same sixty-six (66) acres that the Waughs purchased from the Piersons and containing the same metes and bounds description, to James W. Sisler, James P. Shisler and Bly D. Shisler. (Appendix, pp. 78-79).

Notably, just seven (7) days after the sale of the property by the Waughs to the Shislers on February 26, 1969, the Waughs and Shislers conveyed to Mable G. Pierson a tract of 1.25 acres described therein by metes and bounds, out of the sixty-six (66) acre tract by deed of record in the aforesaid Clerk's Office in Deed Book 119 at page 322. (Appendix, pp. 80-82). This conveyance is critical to the issues in this case due to the fact that the three quarters (3/4) of an acre at issue was conveyed out of what was the sixty-six acre tract and subsequently sold to Plaintiffs.

Also of note, contained in the foregoing deed is language setting forth an agreement between the Waughs and Shislers and Mabel G. Pierson dealing with water rights and a water gap. Despite the fact that this language provides no enforcement mechanism for the failure of any party to perform their agreement and despite the fact that the deed did not contain any reversionary language whatsoever, counsel for Plaintiffs belabored the point throughout these proceedings both during pre-trial motions and at trial in an attempt to establish some form of reversion, transfer or surrender of the 1.25 acre tract Plaintiffs' predecessors in title and thus to Plaintiffs. (Appendix, pp. 217-271). Such a position has and had no legal basis nor authority and is nothing more than a red herring or a desperate attempt to somehow obtain title to this tract outside the rigors of adverse possession.

Later in the year 1969, James P. Shisler and James W. Shisler, Bly Shisler having died, conveyed the "sixty-six (66) acre tract" to Elmer Shinaberry and Thelma Shinaberry by deed dated August 28, 1969 and of record in the aforesaid Clerk's Office in Deed Book 120 at page 253. (Appendix, pp. 83-84). Notably, such deed specifically references a prior outconveyance of one (1) acre from the sixty-six (66) acre tract and as a result of the recordation of the deed for the 1.25 acres to Mable Pierson herein and above discussed, any and all subsequent purchasers were on notice that, at the least the tract identified as containing sixty-six (66) acres contained, at the most 63.75 acres at this date.

Finally, on or about November 2, 1978, Thelma A. Shinaberry, in her own right and as survivor of Elmer Shinaberry conveyed the property to Plaintiffs by deed of record in this aforesaid Clerk's Office in Deed Book 147 at page 174. (Appendix, pp. 85-87). Again, the

description of the property conveyed thereby was the same metes and bounds description of the sixty-six (66) acres as in all of Plaintiffs' predecessors' title deeds discussed above.

As a result of the foregoing recitation of the record title history of the Plaintiffs' property it is clear and undisputed that nine (9) years prior to November 2, 1978 the date of the deed of conveyance to the Plaintiffs of the alleged sixty-six (66) acre tract, the 1.25 acres had been conveyed out of the sixty-six (66) acre tract and title and ownership of the 1.25 acres never passed to the Plaintiffs by the deed of November 2, 1978. Obviously, the property claimed by Plaintiffs in this litigation of three-fourths (3/4) of an acre is part of the 1.25 acres tract.

Since the inception of this litigation, Plaintiff Donald W. Lovelace has consistently maintained that he "owned" the property in dispute because it was "in my deed" when, in point of fact, and as demonstrated by the above title history, it most assuredly is not. As such, Plaintiffs' basis for "claim of title" and/or "color of title" is the "belief" (Appendix, pp. 8-10) of Donald W. Lovelace that such emanates from his deed of November 2, 1978. It should be noted here that due to a joint stipulation between the parties neither Ardel A. Lovelace nor Melanie A. Martin participated in discovery nor testified in this case. (Appendix, pp. 29-30). Accordingly, the testimony of Donald W. Lovelace is the best it can ever get for the Plaintiffs.

In the first instance, in order to accept Mr. Lovelace's "belief" as the basis for the essential element of "claim of title" and/or "color of title" the trial court had to disregard over one hundred (100) years of precedent regarding record notice. The Plaintiffs are chargeable with knowledge of the conveyances recorded in the Office of the Clerk of the County Commission of Pocahontas County. "The doctrine of constructive notice places subsequent purchasers on notice of all facts which could be discovered by searching the record of a duly recorded instrument." <u>Brannon v. Riffle</u>, 197 W.Va. 97, 475 S.E. 2d 97 (1996) and <u>Smith v. Owens</u>, 63 W.Va. 60, 59 S.E. 762 (1907). This Court in <u>Smith</u>, supra went on to add that,

"It is the duty of one purchasing real estate to examine the records; and, whether he does so or not, he is affected with notice of every fact the knowledge of which might have been obtained

from the record, or to which the facts there appearing would have led him."

Mr. Lovelace, throughout this case has consistently employed absolute terminology to

describe his basis of "claim of title" or "color of title", to wit:

"Q. And if I'm right and that's the same half acre, that is what gave you access to get under the bridge, isn't it?

A. No. No. I owned it to start with. I didn't have to get access.

Q. So somebody deeded you your own property?

A. Yeah. Yeah. That's exactly what they done (sic)."

(Appendix, p. 132). (Emphasis added). (When asked why Dr. Shabb deeded Mr. Lovelace .5 acres of the 1.25 acres in 1985.)

Also,

- "Q. I am asking you the question, it is your position...
- A. Yes, yes, its mine. It's mine.
- Q. Even if you don't have a deed to it?
- A. <u>I've got a deed to it.</u>
- Q. You've never actually had a surveyor take your deed and go
- out and run a survey on the metes and calls ...
- A. No."

(Appendix, p. 133). (Emphasis added).

Further, in his responses to written discovery in the case below, Mr. Lovelace responded

thereto as follows:

"Request No. 1: ADMIT that Donald Lovelace cannot produce any deed establishing his ownership of the subject 'claimed property.'

**Response:** Deny. Donald Lovelace believed the 'subject property' in question was contained in his deed dated and recorded the 2<sup>nd</sup> day of November 1978 and treated the 'subject property' in question as being contained in his deed dated and recorded the 2<sup>nd</sup> day of November, 1978."

"Request No. 2: ADMIT that Donald Lovelace has never paid or exchanged anything of value for the subject 'claimed property.'

**Response:** Deny. <u>Donald Lovelace believed he paid for the 'subject property'</u> and has maintained same as his <u>since the day he purchased the 'subject property' in 1978....</u>"

"Request No 4: ADMIT that Donald Lovelace has never made any improvement to the subject 'claimed property.'

**Response:** Deny. From the time <u>Donald Lovelace purchased the 'subject property' in 1978...."</u> "**Request No. 7:** ADMIT that Donald Lovelace is attempting to obtain ownership of the

'claimed property' without providing any consideration for the same.

**Response:** Deny. Donald Lovelace believed said 'subject property' was in his purchase price of \$25,000...." (Appendix, pp. 8-10). (Emphasis added).

And,

"Interrogatory No. 8: Please state specifically, what use, if any, Donald Lovelace has made of the property he seeks to take title to since January 1, 2007.

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