## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 19-0745

Robert P. Martin and Melanie A. Martin Petitioners,

VS.

Donald W. Lovelace, Sr. and Ardel A. Lovelace Respondents.

On Appeal from Honorable John Henning, Judge Circuit Court Of Pocahontas County Civil Action No. 18-C-09

### RESPONSE BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS DONALD W. LOVELACE, SR. And ARDEL A. LOVELACE

Barry L. Bruce (WV Bar No. 511)
Barry L. Bruce & Associates, LC
P. O. Box 388
Lewisburg, WV 24901
(304) 645-4182
(304) 645-4183 (fax)
bbruce@blblaw.org
blblaw@blblaw.org
Counsel for Respondents

##

#### Procedural History

The Respondents filed their original Complaint on or about March 7, 2018. However, because of misunderstanding between counsel and Respondents, the Complaint had to be amended to correct Exhibit "A" to the original Complaint. The Amended Complaint was filed on January 18, 2019. However, the Amended Complaint failed to include the Respondents' verification and Petitioners rightly objected to the lack of same. Respondents requested that they be allowed to submit their verification, but the Petitioners objected and requested the Respondents to file a Second Amended Complaint on or about February 11, 2019. See case docket sheet lines 134-135. The Petitioners' Answer did not object to the change in Exhibit "A" to the Second Amended Complaint. Simply stated, the Petitioners cannot argue any content of the original Complaint impeached the content of the Second Amended Complaint because they did not raise the issue in their argument when the Court approved the Respondents' request to amend their Complaint for that very reason. It also is noted that at a hearing held on November 1,2018, the Circuit Court granted Respondents' Motion to Amend the Complaint concerning Exhibit "A" without objection by Petitioners. See docket sheet, lines 106-108. The Petitioners stated "On October 26, 2018, the Respondents filed a Motion to Amend Complaint, the essence of which was to replace the original Exhibit "A" with a new Exhibit "A". The Petitioners never made any argument to the Circuit Court when said Court approved allowing the amendment nor did they contest the filing of the Second Amended Complaint on any ground, except as spelled out in their Answer which excluded any objection to the new Exhibit "A". Thus, this is a blatant attempt to put before this Court an issue that was never presented to the lower court. However, on the trial date of April 8, 2019, the Petitioners presented, and filed, their Position Brief Regarding the Use of Exhibit "A" to the verified original Complaint. See Appendix pages 283 and 284. Conveniently excluded from the Appendix was the service date on Respondents' counsel (which also occurred on the day of trial). The Respondents argued that the Court should approve the amendment, and no objection was made by the Petitioners to the "new" Exhibit "A" to the Second Amended Complaint. Therefore, the Circuit Court ruled that no reference be made to Exhibit "A" of the original Complaint and would not permit said document into evidence. The Petitioners waited until the day of trial to raise the issue for the first time. The Circuit Court did not allow the Respondents to raise the issue of the Exhibit "A" to the first Complaint because of the "late" filing of the Position Brief and the Court believed the Second Amended Complaint was the "only" Complaint filed for purposes of the trial.

The Petitioners' attack the Respondents' statements as being disingenuously made is not appropriate as it is an unfounded summary conclusion. The Petitioners further attack the Respondent's continuous use of the term "water gap" as the Respondents' counsel's euphemism for the 1.25 acre outconveyance from the 66 acres. The Petitioners wrongly state "[s]imply speaking, there is no recognized legal document titled 'water gap.'" To show the Petitioners' lack of understanding regarding the importance of the "water gap," that term can be found in Exhibit A to Petitioner's Memorandum of Law in Support of Summary Judgment (Appendix, page 67), which is the first deed from Piersons to Waugh's creating the subject 66 acre tract. In paragraph five (5) of said deed, it states:

The said parties of the first part [Piersons] reserve and except from this conveyance the right to have a water gap leading from the lands now owned by the parties of the first part [Piersons] and running through the lands heretofore conveyed, and said water gap is to be located at a spot to be agreed upon between the parties.

Additionally, on or about February 26, 1969, in a deed, recorded in Deed Book 119, at page 322, from James P. Shisler, James P. Shisler, Bly D. Shisler, Lloyd William Waugh and Flossie C. Waugh joined together to convey a described water gap to Mr. and Mrs. Pierson. It stated "[I]t is mutually agreed between the parties hereto that this is the conveyance and agreement as to the water rights and gap reserved by the deed to Lloyd Waugh, et ux, . . "

Clearly, the Petitioners' statement that "there is no recognized legal document titled "water gap" is incorrect. The last time this writer checked a deed is a legal document and the original deed reserving a piece of property was labeled a "water gap."

The Respondents respectfully call to the Court's attention procedure errors of the Petitioners that impact this appeal.

A. Under this Court's Scheduling Order dated September 10, 2019, the Court listed the Petitioners' date to disclose Rule 7(e) list to the Respondents was October 28, 2019. The Court amended the Scheduling Order on November 22, 2019, but did not change the date for Petitioners' disclosure of the Rule 7(e) list. The Respondents did not receive the Appendix until on or about December 4, 2019. Wherefore, Respondents request the Court not consider Petitioners' Appendix because the Petitioners did not file the Appendix on time.

- B. In their Petition for Appeal, the Petitioners attempt to place fault on the Respondents for the Petitioners not getting a transcript of the Circuit Court record. The Petitioners were the parties who neglected to fill out the Notice of Appeal asking for a transcript. The Petitioners continuously completely disregard the procedures in the Circuit Court and in the Supreme Court.
- C. Finally and most seriously, the Petitioners are attempting to appeal the circuit court's denial of the Petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgment without having an Order from the circuit court denying or requesting same. Thus, the Petitioners are requesting this Court to overturn a jury verdict on a hypothetical non-entered order denying a summary judgment, with the Petitioners making no motion during or after trial to judgment as a matter of law. As stated, the case law is clear that the Petitioners did not preserve in any way their right to preserve a summary judgment motion. Therefore, Assignment of Error "A" should be denied.

#### SUMMARY RESPONSE

Pursuant to West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure 10(e), now come the Respondents and respectfully present to the Court the following.

NOTE: The Court should note that the Respondents filed a Motion to Dismiss Assignment of Error "A" and Error "B" because the same are not appealable issues pursuant to West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure 31(a)(4). However, in the event the Court denies the Respondents' Motion, the following is the Respondents' Summary Response.

#### Statement of Facts

- The Complaint in this case was filed on March 7, 2018, and last amended on February 1, 2019, with Court approval. <u>See</u> docket sheet lines 1 and 131 (attached hereto as Exhibit A).
  - 2. Petitioners filed their Motion for Summary Judgment on February 14, 2019.
- Respondents filed their Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment on or before
   February 25, 2019.
- 4. A hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment was held on March 18, 2019, wherein Judge Henning stated he would take the matter under advisement and issue his ruling. No other instructions were issued by the Court.
- On or about March 21, 2019, Judge Henning requested that the Circuit Court Clerk inform the parties of his decision to deny the Motion, leaving no other instructions with the Clerk for the parties (see attached Exhibit B).

- On or before March 27, 2019, Petitioners filed a Motion for Relief from Order Denying Summary Judgment.
- On or before March 28, 2019, Respondents filed a response to the Petitioners' Motion for Relief from Order Denying Summary Judgment.
- 8. Petitioners never before trial requested a hearing on Petitioners' Motion for Relief from Order Denying Summary Judgment (see docket sheet, lines 197-200, attached hereto as Exhibit C) or requested a written Order.
- Three Orders were entered by the Circuit Court regarding the verdict in this matter.
   Said Orders are attached as Exhibits D, E, and F.
- 10. There is no record in the Circuit Court Clerk's docket of an Order ever being entered or requested by the Petitioners regarding the denial of the Petitioners' Summary Judgment Motion.
- After the jury verdict was returned, received and read by the Court, the Petitioners did not ask for a new trial. See Orders, Exhibits D and E.
- 12. At no time during or after trial did the Petitioners request of the Court "judgment as a matter of law."
- Petitioners filed their Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment on or about
   August 1, 2019.
- It is noted that the Rule 59(e) motion Order was limited to the issue of "costs" of the action and not Assignment of Errors A and B.
- On or about October 21, 2019, the Court entered an Order written by Petitioners' counsel and signed by Judge Henning assessing costs against the Petitioners. See attached Exhibit E.

#### Response to Assignment of Error "A" and Error "B"

- A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO GRANT DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHEN THERE EXISTED NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT THAT THE PLAINTIFFS COULD NOT MEET THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF ADVERSE POSSESSION AS A MATTER OF LAW.
- B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO PROPERLY CONSIDER AND RULING INADMISSIBLE CERTAIN EXHIBITS

#### Legal Analysis and Argument

There is only one Order from the Pocahontas Circuit Court that can be appealed. That is the October 21, 2019 Order related to cost which is addressed in Petitioners' Assignment of Error "C". The fact is that the Petitioners did not make a timely request for an order from the Circuit Court on summary judgment and failed to make necessary trial and post trial motions. Petitioners' assignment of Errors A and B should be dismissed.

The Petitioners in this case are estopped from raising the summary judgment issue on appeal for the following legal reasons.

- After the Court denied the Petitioners' motion on March 21, 2019, the Petitioners did nothing except go to trial.
  - a. The Petitioners made no attempt to schedule a hearing on their motion for relief from the verbal order denying summary judgment.
  - b. The Petitioners did not appeal the Court's decision to the Supreme Court as a "final decision" before trial, thus considering same an interlocutory order.
  - c. The Petitioners did not ask the Court to stay the proceedings in order to

- appeal the Court's decision.
- The Petitioners never asked the Court to reduce the Court's decision to writing.
- 2. In choosing to go to trial without appealing the Circuit Court's Summary Judgment denial decision, the Petitioners have waived their right to appeal this issue. In State ex rel. Allstate Ins. Co. v. Gaughan, 203 W. Va. 358, 508 S.E. 2d 75 (1998), the Court stated in Syllabus Point 6:

A party seeking to petition this Court for an extraordinary writ based upon a non-appealable interlocutory decision of a trial court, must request the trial court set out in an order findings of fact and conclusions of law that support and form the basis of its decision. In making the request to the trial court, counsel must inform the trial court specifically that the request is being made because counsel intends to seek an extraordinary writ to challenge the court's ruling. When such a request is made, trial courts are obligated to enter an order containing findings of fact and conclusions of law. Absent a request by the complaining party, a trial court is under no duty to set out findings of fact and conclusions of law in non-appealable interlocutory orders.

- 3. Under West Virginia Code Rule of Procedure 59(e) and (f):
  - (e) Motion to alter or amend a judgment Any motion to alter or amend the judgment shall be filed not later than 10 days after entry of the judgment.
  - (f) Effect of failure to move for new trial If a party fails to make a timely motion for a new trial, after a trial by jury in which judgment as a matter of law has not been rendered by the court, the party is deemed to have waived all errors occurring during the trial which the party might have assigned as grounds in support of such motion; . . .
- 4. In this case at no time before the Circuit Court on the day of trial, or any time during, or end of the trial did the Petitioners request the Court for judgment as a matter of law, and Petitioners have presented no evidence to allege same.

- 5. The Petitioners did not within ten (10) days after trial renew any motion for judgment as a matter of law as required by W. Va. Rules of Civil Procedure 50.(b). Therefore, the Petitioners have waived any argument concerning the Summary Judgement decision.
- A motion to alter or amend a judgment under W. Va. Rule of Civil Procedure 59(e)
   may not be entered where there has been a trial by jury. <u>Williams v. Charleston Area Med. Cnt</u>, 215
   W. Va. 15, 592 S.E. 2d 794 (2003).
- 7. Failure of the Petitioners to timely make a motion for a new trial under 59(f) bars consideration on appeal of alleged errors which occurred during trial. W. Va. Dep't of Transp.. Div. of Highways v. Newton, 235 W. Va. 267, 773 S.E.2d 371 (W. Va. 2015); Miller v. Triplett, 507 S.E. 2d 714, 203 W. Va. 351 (W. Va. 1998).
- 8. When Petitioners filed their 59(a) motion, it only contained one issue and that was the costs assessment. Since they only raised a single issue, the Petitioners are precluded from raising issues of trial/appeal, that were not raised under W. Va. Rules of Civil Procedure 59(a). See Thompson v. Branches-Domestic Violence Shelter of Huntington, Inc., 207 W. Va. 479, 534 S.E.2d 33, 2000 W.Va. LEXIS 73 (2000), cert. denied, 531 U.S. 1055, 121 S. Ct. 663, 148 L.Ed.2d 565, 2000 U.S. LEXIS 8375 (2000).
- 9. No Court Orders that have been entered (Exhibits D, E, and F) document the Petitioners asking for a "judgment under law" to preserve their Assignment of Errors "A" and "B" and counsel for Petitioners signed each Order without objection.
- 10. Quoting State ex rel. Scott v. Boles, 150 W. Va., 453, 457, 147 S. E.2d 486, 489 (1966), the Court in Tennant v. Marion Health Care Foundation, Inc., 194 W. Va. 97, 107. n.5, 459, S.E.2d 374, 384 n. 5 (1995), found: "And if the record does not reveal an error, a court will conclude

that one does not exist: 'It will be presumed, where the record is silent, that a court of competent jurisdiction performed its duty in all respects as required by law."

11. The Petitioners claim that the Circuit Court was wrong in not allowing the maps of the Assessor's Office is incorrect because the document on its face states:

DISCLAIMER: This map was developed for taxation purposes and is therefore not suitable for legal, engineering or surveying purposes. Users of this map should review the primary data sources such as deeds and surveys. The Assessor's Office assumes no liability resulting from the use of this map for any purpose other than tax assessment.

#### Conclusion to Response to Assignment of Errors A and B

The Respondents have shown the Petitioners effectively waived their right to their Assignment of Errors A and B by not making the required motion prior to trial, during trial or after trial as stated above. Basically, the Petitioners are asking the Court to give them a second bite of the appeal "apple." Procedural issues are important to every trial. The fact the Petitioners did not pursue a written order for their Summary Judgment Motion to effectuate an appeal of same is a costly error, thus losing the right to argue summary judgment.

Secondly, going through a jury trial and not putting on record a motion for judgment as a matter of law before the Court to preserve any argument regarding summary judgment issue (50(a) - (b)) is an additional major error.

Finally, failing to file 59(e) and (f) motions shows no intent of Petitioners to preserve appeal rights of rulings that occurred at trial. Most telling is that there is no Court Order or record preserving any of the aforementioned issues. Thus, under <u>Tennant</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 10 – with no record — it is presumed the Court performed its duty in all aspects as required by law. Clearly, as to

Assignment of Error "B", the Petitioners are attempting to appeal the Court's rulings regarding admissions of exhibits because they did not preserve the right by filing a motion for a new trial under 59(e) or (f). Therefore, the Petitioner has waived the right to assert Assignment of Error"B". See Miller v. Triplett, supra at 7.

#### Response to Assignment of Error "C"

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